#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_

### CORPORATE EXPRESS OFFICE PRODUCTS, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

DOUG PHILLIPS, EDWARD R. GOFF, LORI L. FARRELL, f/k/a LORI L. ROBINSON and COMMERCIAL DESIGN SERVICES, INC.,

Respondents.

\_\_\_\_\_

<del>----</del>

### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, State of Florida Supreme Court Case No. SC01-2741 Fifth District Appeal No. 5D01-864 Circuit Court Case No. CI 00-8168 Div. 35

Allan H. Weitzman
Joseph G. Santoro
PROSKAUER ROSE LLP
Attorneys for Petitioner, Corporate
Express Office Products, Inc.
2255 Glades Road, Suite 340W
Boca Raton, Florida 33431
Telephone: 561-241-7400

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FINDINGS OF FACT

The Petitioner, Corporate Express Office Products, Inc. ("Corporate Express") is a Delaware corporation engaged in the business of selling and delivering office products, office furniture and business equipment to customers. (CE App. A., p. 11). Corporate Express is authorized to conduct business in Florida and does so throughout the State, including Orange, Brevard, Seminole, Lake, Marion, Citrus and Osceola Counties. (CE App. A, p. 12).

Respondents, Doug Phillips ("Phillips"), Lori L. Farrell ("Farrell"), and Edward R. Goff ("Goff") (collectively the "Former Employees") previously worked for Corporate Express in its furniture sales division. (CE App. A, p. 12). As "Account Managers" for Corporate Express, the Former Employees were responsible for, *inter alia*, soliciting customers on behalf of Corporate Express for the purchase of office furniture and equipment, and for establishing, servicing and maintaining direct relationships with existing and prospective Corporate Express customers. (CE App. A, p. 17).

Respondent, Commercial Design Services, Inc. ("CDS"), is a direct competitor of Corporate Express that, immediately after the Former Employees terminated their

employment relationship with Corporate Express, hired the Former Employees to compete with Corporate Express. (CE App. A, p. 17-18).

At issue in this appeal is whether Corporate Express has standing to enforce the Former Employees' non-compete agreements that were executed by the Former Employees prior to 1990. With respect to Phillips and Farrell, Corporate Express seeks to enforce their agreements following a 100% stock purchase and a series of internal re-organizational mergers of its wholly-owned subsidiaries. With respect to Goff, Corporate Express seeks enforcement based on his consent to the assignment of his non-compete agreement following a separate asset purchase.<sup>1</sup>

Specifically, as established in the Trial Court below, prior to June 28, 1990, each of the Former Employees executed his/her non-compete agreement at issue in this litigation. Phillips and Farrell signed their non-compete agreements on August 11, 1986 and June 5, 1989, respectively, when they began working for **Bishop Office Furniture Company, Inc.** ("Bishop"). (CE App. A, p. 12, CE App. B, C). On January 3, 1997, Corporate Express (then known as **Corporate Express of the** 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> From the outset, the Fifth District below mischaracterized the issue in this case when it bundled the Phillips and Farrell situations, on the one hand, and the Goff situation, on the other, when it wrote: "The issue in this case is the enforceability of a non-compete agreement after an asset purchase, stock purchase, merger and name change." (CE App. D, p. 1).

**South, Inc.**) acquired Bishop by purchasing 100% of Bishop's stock. (CE App. A, p. 12, 21-23, CE App. E).

On March 3, 1986, Goff signed his non-compete agreement when he began working with Ciera Office Products, Inc. ("Ciera"). (CE App. F). On October 16, 1996, Corporate Express (then known as Corporate Express of the South, Inc.) purchased the assets of Ciera, including Goff's non-compete agreement. (CE App. A, p. 16). Because Corporate Express purchased only the assets of Ciera (as opposed to the stock purchase of Bishop), Corporate Express required Goff to execute a consent to the assignment of his non-compete agreement on October 16, 1996. (CE App. A, p. 16, CE App. G). Therein, Goff agreed and consented to the assignment of his non-compete obligations from Ciera to Corporate Express (then known as Corporate Express of the South, Inc.). (CE App. G).

At all times material hereto, Corporate Express of the South, Inc., was a wholly owned subsidiary of Corporate Express of the East, Inc. (CE App. H, p. 3). In turn, Corporate Express of the East, Inc., was wholly owned by Corporate Express' parent company Corporate Express, Inc. (CE App. I, p. 4). Therefore, immediately upon the Bishop stock purchase, and continuing until February 1998, the organization

of Corporate Express and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Corporate Express Companies") was as follows:

### **Corporate Express, Inc.**

(the Corporate Express Companies' parent company)

9

### Corporate Express of the East, Inc.

(a wholly owned subsidiary of Corporate Express, Inc.)

9

## **Corporate Express of the South, Inc.**

(a wholly own subsidiary of Corporate Express of the East, Inc.)

9

## **Bishop Office Furniture Company, Inc.**

(a wholly own subsidiary of Corporate Express of the South, Inc.)

Consistent with the above, beginning January 3, 1997, by virtue of the purchase of its stock, Bishop was a fully integrated member of the Corporate Express family.

From the date it acquired Bishops' stock in January, 1997 through February 1998, Corporate Express continued the business of Bishop and retained the Bishop name. (CE App. A, p. 19). Just over a year after the stock purchase of Bishop, the Corporate Express Companies went through an internal re-organization/consolidation that resulted in the merger of the Corporate Express Companies with their subsidiaries. Specifically, on February 24, 1998, Bishop was merged into its parent company, Corporate Express of the South, Inc. (CE App. A, p. 19, CE App. J). Just two days later, on February 26, 1998, Corporate Express of the South, Inc., was merged into its parent company, Corporate Express of the East, Inc. (CE App. A, p. 20); (CE App. H). Thereafter, Corporate Express continued as Corporate Express of the East, Inc. until July 23, 1998, when Corporate Express of the East, Inc., changed its name to Corporate Express Office Products, Inc., the Petitioner in this case.<sup>2</sup> (CE App. A, p. 20, CE App. K).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> At the injunction hearing and in their briefs before the Fifth District, Respondents attempted to confuse the corporate history of Petitioner with a "red herring" by arguing that in 1999, Corporate Express Office Products, Inc., the Plaintiff in this case, was "acquired by [and] merged into" a company allegedly called "BT Office Products Company, Inc." (CE App. A, p. 98). This Court (continued...)

Thus, as a result of the internal re-organization/consolidation of the Corporate Express Companies — all of which were directly or indirectly wholly-owned by Corporate Express, Inc. — from July 23, 1998, through the present, the corporate structure of the Corporate Express Companies was as follows:

### Corporate Express, Inc.

(the Corporate Express Companies' parent company)



<sup>2</sup>(...continued)

should disregard Respondents' erroneous claim for several reasons. First, unlike the self-authenticating corporate records introduced by Corporate Express during

the Preliminary Injunction hearing evidencing Corporate Express' true corporate history, Petitioners introduced **no evidence whatsoever** to support their claim. Second, the facts are, as evidenced by the public record, that in December 1999, an entity known as BT Office Products International, Inc. ("BT"), was merged into Corporate Express Office Products, Inc. and Corporate Express Office Products, Inc. remained as the surviving entity. Thus, despite this transaction, there was no change whatsoever in the legal status of Former Employees' employer.

Indeed, both the Trial Court's and Fifth District's findings are consistent with Corporate Express' position. Specifically, even though the Trial Court found that a merger between Corporate Express and BT took place, it simply held that after this transaction Corporate Express "became known as Corporate Express, a Buhrmann company" and did not make any findings as to the legal identity/status of Corporate Express following the BT transaction. (CE App. I, p. 5). In addition, the Fifth District did not include the unrelated Buhrmann transaction in its recitation of the corporate history of Petitioner. (CE App. D, p. 2).

### **Corporate Express Office Products, Inc.**

(a wholly owned subsidiary of Corporate Express, Inc.; formerly Bishop Office Furniture Company, Inc., Corporate Express of the South, Inc., and Corporate Express of the East, Inc.)

As correctly concluded by the Trial Court and the Fifth District, as a matter of fact and law, throughout the mergers and name changes described above, Phillips, Farrell, and Goff "remained employed with the corporation that ultimately became known as Corporate Express," the Petitioner in this case. (CE App. I, p. 6, CE App. D, p. 2). Specifically, from the date Corporate Express acquired Bishop through the date the Former Employees terminated their employment in August and September of 2000, performed the same jobs, serviced the same territories and serviced the same customers. (CE App. L, pp. 53-55, 61, CE App. M, N).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Prior to the merger of Bishop into Corporate Express, Bishop went through an administrative dissolution for failure to file an annual report. However, once this paperwork error was discovered, Corporate Express took the necessary steps to reinstate Bishop and to perfect the corporate history in Florida's records. The Trial Court correctly found that the administrative dissolution was inconsequential because, under Florida law, once a corporation that has been administratively dissolved is reinstated, the reinstatement relates back to and takes effect as of the date of the administrative dissolution; and the corporation resumes carrying on its business as if the administrative dissolution had never occurred. § 607.1422(3), Fla. Stat.; *see also*, *Triple T.*, *Inc. v. Jaghory*, 612 So. 2d 642, 643 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) *review denied*, 626 So. 2d 206 (Fla. 1993); (CE App. I, p. 6).

Upon their separation of employment, the Former Employees immediately began working for CDS, a direct competitor of Corporate Express, and began competing with Corporate Express in the prohibited territories in violation of their non-compete agreements. (CE App. I, p. 6). Respondents' competitive activities are not disputed. Moreover, both prior to and after the conclusion of their employment with Corporate Express, the Former Employees' misappropriated Corporate Express' trade secrets and other proprietary and confidential information and used it to unlawfully compete with Corporate Express.<sup>4</sup>

As a result of the above unlawful acts and others, Corporate Express initiated this action on November 3, 2000, by filing its Complaint against Respondents. (CE App. O). Therein, Corporate Express sought damages and injunctive relief due, *inter alia*, to Former Employees' willful violation of their non-compete agreements and for Respondents' use and disclosure of Corporate Express' trade secrets and other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For example, as Petitioner explained to the Trial Court, at the conclusion of Farrell's employment with Corporate Express and after being told not to enter onto the Company's premises, Farrell entered Corporate Express' Orlando office after business hours — at 10 p.m. at night — and removed multiple boxes of Corporate Express' customer files and other trade secrets and confidential and proprietary information. (CE App. A, p. 9). Amazingly, she was accompanied by Phillips, who had ended his employment with Corporate Express to work for CDS, two weeks before and who had previously been escorted off of Corporate Express property. (CE App. A, p. 9-10).

confidential and proprietary information. (CE App. O, p. 1). Corporate Express alleged that the Former Employees were and are in breach of their non-compete agreements because, *inter alia*, they: (i) are presently employed by CDS; (ii) have unlawfully solicited Corporate Express' customers; and (3) have unfairly competed with Corporate Express in the prohibited territories. (CE App. O, p. 12). In addition, Corporate Express alleged in its Complaint that Respondents were and are unlawfully using and disclosing Corporate Express' trade secrets and other confidential and proprietary information in violation of Florida statutory and common law. (CE App. O, p. 12, 14-18).

On December 28, 2000, Corporate Express filed its Motion for Preliminary Injunction, wherein it sought, *inter alia*, immediate injunctive relief to enjoin the Former Employees from further breach of their non-compete agreements by prohibiting them from working for CDS in the prohibited territories and from soliciting Corporate Express' customers, as well as to enjoin Respondents' use and disclosure of Corporate Express' trade secrets and other confidential and proprietary information. (CE App. P, p. 15). The Motion for Preliminary Injunction was heard before the Honorable George A. Sprinkel IV, Circuit Court Judge, on January 31, 2001.

On the day of the hearing, Corporate Express presented evidence that Respondents were in violation of their non-compete agreements and Florida law.<sup>5</sup> Included among the evidence presented to the Trial Court were Phillips' and Farrell's own admissions that they committed numerous violations of their non-compete agreements, including working for CDS in the prohibited territories and soliciting and attempting to divert Corporate Express' customers to CDS. (CE App. A, p. 31-34, CE App. M, N). In addition, Corporate Express presented the Trial Court with evidence establishing that Goff was also in violation of his non-compete agreement due to his solicitation of Corporate Express' customers. (CE App. A, p. 35-38). Moreover, Corporate Express presented to the Trial Court over <u>54 Exhibits</u> and other evidence establishing that Respondents breached their non-compete agreements and used and disclosed Corporate Express' trade secrets and other confidential and proprietary information.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> At the direction of the Court, the parties made "proffers" of the evidence as established during the extensive written discovery and depositions taken by all parties prior to the hearing. All parties willingly participated in this procedure without any objection.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The sufficiency of Corporate Express' proof of the Respondents' violations of their contractual obligations and Florida common and statutory law is not an issue in this appeal and was not raised by Respondents in the Fifth District.

On February 19, 2001, the Trial Court issued its 15-page Injunction Order. (CE App. I). Therein, relying on the First District Court of Appeal's decision in Sears Termite and Pest Control v. Arnold, 745 So. 2d 485, 486 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) ("Sears"), the Trial Court held that Corporate Express was at all times the Former Employees' employer and had the right to enforce the Former Employee's noncompete agreements. (CE App. I, p. 14). Specifically, the Trial Court found that neither the change in ownership of Bishop's stock nor the transfer of Corporate Express' stock in connection with the aforementioned internal mergers affected Corporate Express' right to enforce the non-compete agreements because none of these events involved the **dissolution** of the Former Employees' employer. (CE App. I, pp. 9-10). Thus, because the rights to the Former Employees' non-compete agreements passed by operation of law, Corporate Express always had and continued to have the right to enforce these agreements and no assignment was necessary. (CE App. I, p. 10). Accordingly, the Trial Court enjoined the Former Employees from further breach of their non-compete agreements and enjoined Respondents from using and/or disclosing Corporate Express' trade secrets and other confidential information in violation of Florida statutory and common law. (CE App. I, p. 14).

Respondents appealed the Trial Court's decision to the Fifth District Court of Appeal (the "Fifth District") claiming, inter alia, that the Trial Court erred when it followed Sears. On August 17, 2001, the Fifth District reversed the Trial Court's ruling and issued its opinion wherein it **expressly and directly** rejected *Sears*, stating that it "simply [did] not agree with the rationale of that case." (See App. D, p. 4). As set forth in more detail *infra* at pp. 22-24, rather than follow the appropriate legal analysis used in *Sears*, which focused on the existence of legal changes in the corporate identity of the employer as a basis to determine whether a plaintiff has standing to enforce a non-compete agreement, the Fifth District created new precedent in this State and held that, regardless of the nature of the transaction (i.e., stock purchase, asset purchase or merger), a "successor" corporation does not have the right to enforce a non-compete agreement absent the express consent of the employee.<sup>7</sup> (CE App. D, pp. 4-5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> That portion of the Preliminary Injunction that prohibits the Respondents from using or disclosing Corporate Express' trade secrets and other confidential and proprietary information was not reversed on appeal and remains in effect. (CE App. Q, p. 2.)

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The fundamental problem with the decision below is that when 100% of a company's stock is purchased by someone who wants to own an on-going concern in a state such as Florida that will enforce valid non-compete agreements, the purchaser's acquisition may be worthless if the employees do not come to work for their new employer and can walk across the street to work for a competitor in violation of an otherwise enforceable non-compete agreement. And, while the Fifth District believes that the solution to this problem is to have the employees sign new noncompete agreements, no rational business person will wait until after the purchase price has been paid to solicit new agreements. Therefore, the Fifth District's decision will force potential buyers to seek new agreements as a pre-purchase condition. Thus, the infusion of new capital into Florida will be thwarted by any employee who can effectively veto a stock sale by his/her present employer by a pre-sale refusal to consent. It is in this context that this Court should reverse the ruling of the Fifth District and remand this case with instructions to reinstate the Preliminary Injunction granted in favor of Corporate Express because the business-unfriendly analysis and conclusions in the Fifth District's opinion are also contrary to Florida law.

As established in Point I *infra* at pp. 19-29, the Fifth District improperly rejected the First District's correct holding and analysis of *Sears*, which held that in a stock purchase acquisition, assignment of a non-compete agreement is not required because a mere change in the ownership of a corporation does not alter the corporation's existence, contractual rights or liabilities. Based on this standard, the Trial Court correctly concluded that because the transactions at issue here (a 100% stock purchase of Bishop and the internal mergers of Corporate Express' wholly owned subsidiaries) only involved a change in ownership of corporate stock and did not involve the dissolution of the contracting employer, Corporate Express had the legal right to enforce the Former Employees' non-compete agreements and was not required to obtain these rights through an assignment of the agreements. (CE App. I, p. 10).

As set forth *infra* at pp. 22-24, the Fifth District erred when it (i) held that the long-standing law in Florida assuring the continuation of corporate rights and liabilities following the transfer of its stock and/or after a name change was "irrelevant" to the analysis of this case and, (ii) instead, in direct conflict with the First District's holding in *Sears*, created a new test to support its intended result that has no support under Florida law in the absence of a corporate dissolution. Specifically, the Fifth District

held that Corporate Express was required to obtain an assignment of the Former Employees' non-compete agreements and their consent thereto because of a change in "culture and mode of operation" that allegedly occurred as a result of the changes in stock ownership. (CE App. D, p. 5). The Fifth District's use of this new standard is not supported by Florida law for several reasons.

First, as established *infra* at pp. 24-26, the Fifth District's reliance on *Schweiger v. Hoch*, 223 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969) and *Johnston v. Dockside Fueling of North America, Inc.*, 658 So. 2d 618 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), was improper. Neither of those cases support the Fifth District's position that a change in "culture and mode of operation" requires the assignment of a non-compete agreement to an employer who, as a matter of law, had the legal right to enforce the agreement. Moreover, the Fifth District expressly chose to ignore the critical fact that in both of those cases the employer with whom the employee originally contracted had **dissolved** and an entirely new employer was seeking to enforce the agreements.

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