IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-2741

CORPORATE EXPRESS OFFICE PRODUCTS, INC.,

Petitioner,

V.

DOUG PHILLIPS, EDWARD R. GOFF, LORI L. FARRELL, f/k/a LORI L. ROBINSON and COMMERCIAL DESIGN SERVICES, INC.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT, CASE NO.: 5D01-864

BROAD AND CASSEL

390 North Orange Avenue

Suite 1100

Orlando, Florida 32801

PO Box 4961 (32802-4961)

Phone: (407) 839-4200

Fax: (407) 425-8377

KEITH F. WHITE, P.A.

KEITH F. WHITE

Florida Bar No.: 957259

KIMBERLY DOUD

Florida Bar No.: 523771

Attorneys for Respondents

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court failed to apply, or misapplied, well-established Florida law that prohibits the assignment and enforcement of personal service contracts, such as the non-compete agreements in this case, to another employer without the consent of the

employee. The non-compete agreements do not contain assignment provisions or any provisions authorizing their enforcement by anyone other than "the Employer" identified therein. Florida law unequivocally holds that non-compete agreements executed by employees in favor of their former employer are not enforceable by a successor employer absent consent to such enforcement. The appellate court's opinion properly subordinated form to substance by holding that the transactions at issue changed the individual Respondents' employer, and precluded Corporate Express from enforcing the non-compete agreements.

Despite case law to the contrary, Corporate Express now claims that because CES acquired all of Bishop's stock and Ciera's assets, Bishop merged into CES, and CES subsequently merged into Corporate Express, it has somehow acquired the right to enforce the non-compete agreements. If it accepts Corporate Express' argument, then this Court will establish a legal principle that allows non-compete agreements to be enforced by a successor if the predecessor merges into, rather than sells its assets to, the successor. Such a rule is at odds with both the common law and the controlling statute, both of which were incorporated in the non-compete agreements.

Even if the non-compete agreements passed by operation of law to Corporate Express, those agreements expired prior to the alleged breaches. Corporate Express is constrained by the language of those agreements, and that language prohibits entry

of an injunction. In addition, the trial court disregarded evidence regarding Corporate Express' conduct which precludes Corporate Express from obtaining injunctive relief. If the facts are viewed in favor of Corporate Express, it still is not entitled to reinstatement of the injunction under the terms of the agreements.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD APPROVE THE APPELLATE COURT'S DECISION BECAUSE THAT COURT'S RATIONALE IS SUPPORTED BY FLORIDA LAW

A party seeking the entry of a preliminary injunction must demonstrate: i) irreparable harm; ii) a substantial likelihood of success on the merits stemming from a demonstrably clear legal right; iii) an inadequate remedy at law; and, in some instances, iv) consideration of the public interest. *See Anich Indus., Inc. v. Raney*, 751 So. 2d 767, 770 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). Furthermore, when seeking the entry of a temporary injunction to enforce a non-compete agreement under the pre-1990 version of section 542.33, Florida Statutes, the movant must also prove: i) the existence of a contract; and ii) the employee's intentional, direct and material breach of the non-compete agreement. *See Chandra v. Gadodia*, 610 So. 2d 15, 19 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). A trial court's ruling on whether to enter a temporary injunction is reversible upon a showing of an abuse of discretion. *See Anich Indus.*, 751 So. 2d at 769.

Contracts for personal services, or contracts that involve a relationship of personal confidence, are *not assignable* by either party absent consent or ratification by the other party, or a provision in the agreement that provides for such an assignment. *See W.S. Badcock Corp. v. Webb*, 699 So. 2d 859, 861 (Fla. 5th DCA

1997); Schweiger v. Hoch, 223 So. 2d 557, 558 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969). The defendant in *Schweiger*, an accountant who worked for a partnership, had signed an employment agreement that included a non-compete provision. 223 So. 2d at 558. Approximately three years after signing the employment agreement, one of the partners withdrew from the partnership, causing the dissolution of the partnership. *Id.* The remaining partners formed a new partnership, and Schweiger began his employment with that entity. Id. Approximately nine months later, the defendant terminated his employment with the new partnership and started his own accounting business, in which he directly competed against the new partnership. *Id*. The new partnership sued to enforce the non-compete agreement entered into between the defendant and the original The lower court held that the non-compete agreement was partnership. Id.enforceable and enjoined the defendant from competing against the new partnership. *Id.* at 557-58.

The issue before the appellate court in *Schweiger* was the assignability and enforceability of the defendant's non-compete agreement. *Id* at 558. The plaintiff maintained that when the original partnership was dissolved and the new partnership was formed, the non-compete agreement was assigned to the new partnership and was enforceable against the defendant. *Id*. The court rejected the plaintiff's argument and held that a non-compete agreement is not assignable, absent a provision that permits

assignment, and absent consent or ratification. *Id*. In explaining why a non-compete agreement is generally not assignable, the court declared:

"Knowing the character and personality of his master, the employee might be ready and willing to safeguard the trust which his employer has reposed in him by granting a restrictive covenant against leaving that employment. His confidence in his employer might be such that he could scarcely anticipate any rupture between them. As to that particular employer, if a break did occur, he might be willing to pledge that his fidelity would continue after the employment had ended, even at the cost of forsaking the vocation for which he was best suited. This does not mean that he was willing to suffer this restraint for the benefit of a stranger to the original undertaking."

Id. at 559 (quoting Smith, Bell & Hauck, Inc. v. Cullins, 183 A.2d 528 (Vt. 1962)).

The *Schweiger* court, relying on *Orlando Orange Groves Co. v. Hale*, 161 So. 284 (Fla. 1935), recognized that the assignment of a non-compete agreement could be consented to or ratified, but held that the defendant's continued employment could not in itself support the conclusion that the parties intended the original contract to be assigned or that the assignment was consented to or ratified by Schweiger. *Id.* The court also stated that it was the new partnership's duty, and not that of the defendant, to enter into a new non-compete agreement with the defendant. *Id.* Therefore, the court reversed the lower court's holding with directions to dissolve the temporary and permanent injunctions. *Id.*

Johnston v. Dockside Fueling of North America, Inc., 658 So. 2d 618 (Fla. 3d

DCA), review denied, 666 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 1995), also addressed the enforceability of a non-compete agreement that had purportedly been assigned. Johnston was employed by Dockside to fuel and service its customers. *Id.* at 619. Approximately four years after entering into employment with Dockside, Johnston signed an employment agreement, which included a non-compete covenant. *Id*. Dockside was involved in a fuel spill and shortly thereafter dissolved. *Id*. Three months after the dissolution of Dockside, Dockside N.A. was incorporated and all the assets of Dockside, including Johnston's non-compete agreement, were transferred to Dockside N.A. *Id.* During this time, Johnston continued to work for Dockside, then Dockside N.A. Id. After Johnston notified Dockside N.A. that he was going into business for himself, Dockside N.A. terminated Johnston's employment. *Id*. Johnston started his own business, performed the same services as Dockside N.A. and also solicited and serviced customers who had previously utilized the services of Dockside N.A. *Id*. Dockside N.A. filed suit to enforce the non-compete agreement between Johnston and Dockside, and asked the court to enjoin Johnston from competing with Dockside N.A. Id.

The appellate court held that the non-compete agreement was not assigned and was not enforceable because there was no provision permitting an assignment, and because Johnston never consented to or ratified the assignment. *Id.* The *Johnston*

court relied on both *Schweiger* and *Hale* in reaching its conclusion, and also held that Johnston's continued employment with the new corporation was insufficient to constitute consent to the assignment of the non-compete agreement from Dockside to Dockside N.A. *Id*.

In *Strehlow v. Legend Equities Corp.*, 727 So. 2d 1076, 1076-77 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), the appellants signed non-solicitation agreements in favor of a company prior to the time when that company sold its business to the appellee, but the appellants never consented to the assignment of their non-solicitation agreements to the appellee. Therefore, the court held that the non-solicitation agreements were not enforceable, reaffirmed its *Schweiger* decision, and reversed the entry of the temporary injunction. *Id*.

In Sears Termite & Pest Control, Inc. v. Arnold, 745 So. 2d 485, 486 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), Sears Roebuck & Co. purchased 100 percent of the stock in All America Termite and Pest Control, Inc. ("All America"). Subsequent to the stock purchase, All America changed its name to Sears Termite and Pest Control, Inc. ("Sears Termite") *Id.* Prior to the stock purchase, the appellees began their employment with All America, and remained employed until after the name change. *Id.* The court held that neither the name change nor the stock sale affected the corporate existence and identity of the appellees' employer. *Id.* Accordingly, the court held that Sears Termite

could enforce the non-compete agreements executed by the appellees. *Id.*

In addition to the aforesaid judicial decisions, the Florida Legislature has prescribed the extent to which a non-compete agreement is enforceable:

- (1) Notwithstanding other provisions of this chapter to the contrary, each contract by which any person is restrained from exercising a lawful profession, trade, or business of any kind, as provided by subsections (2) and (3) hereof, is to that extent valid, and all other contracts in restraint of trade are void.
- (2)(a) One who sells the goodwill of a business, or any shareholder of a corporation selling or otherwise disposing of all of his shares in said corporation, may agree with the buyer, and one who is employed as an agent, independent contractor, or employee may agree with his employer, to refrain from carrying on or engaging in a similar business and from soliciting old customers of such employer within a reasonably limited time and area, so long as the buyer or any person deriving title to the goodwill from him, and so long as such employer, continues to carry on a like business therein. Said agreements may, in the discretion of a court of competent jurisdiction, be enforced by injunction.

§ 542.33(1), (2)(a), Fla. Stat. (1989).

In *Manpower, Inc. v. Olsten Permanent Agency of Central Florida, Inc.*, 309 So. 2d 57, 57 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975), the defendant had been employed by Manpower, Inc. of Tennessee ("MIT"), which was a subsidiary of Manpower, Inc. While he was employed by MIT, the defendant entered into a non-compete agreement with Manpower, Inc. and MIT. *Id.* at 57-58. The defendant's non-compete agreement

prohibited him from engaging in a similar business in areas in which Manpower, Inc., or any of its subsidiaries, affiliates or licensees, were operating. *Id.* at 58. The defendant terminated his employment with MIT and went to work for Olsten's, a Tampa company engaged in a business similar to that of Manpower, Inc. *Id.* Manpower, Inc. and two of its franchisees commenced an action to enforce the defendant's non-compete agreement, but the trial court refused and dismissed the case. *Id.*

The appellate court affirmed the trial court's decision and noted that non-compete agreements were unenforceable in Florida prior to the enactment of the statute authorizing such agreements. *Id.* The district court observed that the "statute permits an employee to enter into an agreement with *his employer* whereby he agrees not to compete with *such employer*." *Id.* The court found that the defendant was working for MIT when the non-compete agreement was executed, but MIT was not a plaintiff. *Id.* Although Manpower, Inc. was a plaintiff, that company was not the defendant's employer when the non-compete agreement was executed. *Id.* The court also held that, even if the franchisee plaintiffs were third party beneficiaries under contract principles, the enabling statute could not be expanded to allow a third party beneficiary to enforce a non-compete agreement. *Id.* at 58-59.

In the case before this Court, the trial court held that Schweiger, Johnston and

Strehlow were not applicable and relied on Sears Termite. (CE App. I, pp. 8-11) The trial court found this case distinguishable from Schweiger and Johnston because the business entities in those cases were dissolved, and found Strehlow to be unclear. (CE App. I, p. 9) Furthermore, the trial court concluded that Sears Termite controlled because this case, in the trial court's opinion, involves a merger which included a stock sale. (CE App. I, p. 10)

The appellate court disagreed with the rationale of *Sears Termite* and declared that it was irrelevant whether a company's ownership changed, or whether one company was dissolved and a new company created. (CE App. D, p. 4) Instead, the court focused on the fact that the individual Respondents had worked for Ciera and Bishop, which had unique cultures and modes of operation that were different from the culture and mode of operation of Corporate Express. (CE App. D, p. 5) The district court observed that Phillips' and Farrell's non-compete agreements identified Bishop as "the Employer," and Goff's non-compete agreement identified Ciera as "the Employer." (*Id*.) The opinion pointed out that none of the non-compete agreements contained a provision whereby the individual Respondents agreed to be bound to a successor or assign, and that Corporate Express did not enter into new non-compete agreements with the individual Respondents. (d.) Accordingly, the unanimous decision declared that Corporate Express "cannot be considered 'the Employer' that is identified in the agreements and the authorizing statute." (*Id.*)

The Fifth District's rationale is in accord with Florida law and should be approved by this Court. The relevant statute provides that an "employee may agree with his employer, to refrain from carrying on or engaging in a similar business and from soliciting old customers of such employer. . . so long as such employer, continues to carry on a like business therein." § 542.33(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (1989) (emphasis added). That statute must be strictly construed because it is in derogation of the common law rule prohibiting non-compete agreements. See Dunkin v. Barkus & Kronstadt, D.O.'s, P.A., 533 So. 2d 877, 878 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), review denied, 542 So. 2d 1332 (Fla. 1989); *Manpower, Inc.*, 309 So. 2d at 58. The appellate court's rule elevates substance over form by preventing an entity from asserting that it is the "employer" under the relevant statute unless the identity and owners of that entity are the same as those of the "employer" that originally executed the non-compete agreement.

The required strict construction of section 542.33 supports that rule, as does the analysis in *Schweiger* quoted by the appellate court. (CE App. D, pp. 5-6) Even if Bishop's legal identity did not change after the stock sale in 1997, it flies in the face of reality to contend that Bishop was not changed by the fact that 100 percent of its stock was transferred from the Bishops (and their trust) to CES, a Delaware

corporation. (CE App. E, p. 1) Similarly, even if all merged corporations continue in existence in the surviving corporation, it is absurd to argue that the merging corporations and the surviving corporations were unchanged by the mergers. Those changes support the Fifth District's holding that Corporate Express is not "the Employer" and cannot enforce the non-compete agreements. Corporate Express does not, and cannot, argue that it was "the Employer" of the individual Respondents when the non-compete agreements were executed, which precludes it from enforcing those agreements.³ *See* § 542.33(2)(a); *Manpower, Inc.*, 309 So. 2d at 58. Corporate Express' argument must also be rejected because, as with general contract principles, general legal principles regarding stock sales and mergers must yield to section 542.33. *See Manpower, Inc.*, 309 So. 2d at 58-59.

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